FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/27/2019 2:26 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No.  $\frac{97905-7}{}$  Court of Appeals No. 77831-5-I

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF EVERETT, Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS COMMISSION, Respondent,

and

INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF FIRE FIGHTERS, LOCAL 46, Respondent.

### **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Rodney B. Younker, WSBA #21281 Shannon E. Phillips, WSBA #25631 SUMMIT LAW GROUP PLLC 315 Fifth Avenue South, Suite 1000 Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 676-7000 Attorneys for Petitioner-Appellant City of Everett

## **

I.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER		
II.	COURT OF APPEALS DECISION		
III.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 1		
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
	A.	The Parties' Labor Contract Includes a Provision that Specifies a Minimum Number of Firefighters Per Shift	
	В.	The City Objected that the Union's Proposal to Increase Shift Staffing Is a Permissive Subject of Bargaining	
V.	ARGU	MENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED7	
	A.	The Decision of the Court of Appeals Is in Direct Conflict with <i>City of Richland</i>	
		City of Richland Reserves Decisions about the Scope of Public Services to Elected Officials	
		2. PERC Improperly Substituted Its Judgment of the Public Interest for that of Everett's Elected Officials	
	B.	PERC Improperly Excluded the City's Cost Evidence	
	C.	This Case Presents Issues of Substantial Public Interest	
VI.	CONC	CLUSION20	

## TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s)
City of Bellevue v. Int'l Ass'n of Fire Fighters, Local,119 Wn.2d 373, 831 P.2d 738 (1992)
City of Seattle, Dec. 12060-A, 2014 WL 7385455 (Wash.Pub.Emp.Rel.Com., 2014)
Statutes
RCW 41.56       3         RCW 41.56.010       18         RCW 41.56.150(4)       4, 7         RCW 41.56.450-465       20         RCW 41.56.465       20

### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is the City of Everett (the "City" or "Everett"), petitioner in the Court of Appeals.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The City seeks review of the decision of Division One of the Court of Appeals, filed October 28, 2019, in *City of Everett v. State of Washington Pub. Employment Relations Comm'n and Int'l Ass'n of Fire Fighters, Local 46*, \_\_Wn.App. \_\_\_, 451 P.3d 347 (2019) ("City of Everett"). A copy of the decision is attached in the Appendix ("App.").

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals err when it affirmed PERC's introduction of a new factor, "the public interest," into the two-sided balancing test created by this Court to evaluate scope-of-bargaining issues, and when it permitted PERC to define the "public interest" differently than the elected representatives of the City?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals err in excluding from consideration evidence submitted by the City that was not first presented at the bargaining table while relying on evidence submitted by the union that was also first introduced before PERC?

### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter arose from an unfair labor practice ("ULP") complaint filed with the Public Employment Relations Commission ("PERC") by the City against the International Association of Fire Fighters, Local 46 (the "Union"), who represents the City's firefighters. AR at 2345-25. At issue is whether a public employer is required by law to bargain with a union regarding the union's proposal to increase the minimum level of on-duty staffing the employer must maintain at all times. AR at 998, 226, 494, 2341.

# A. The Parties' Labor Contract Includes a Provision that Specifies a Minimum Number of Firefighters Per Shift.

The City and Union were parties to a collective bargaining agreement ("CBA") governing the wages, hours, and working conditions of firefighters effective from 2012 through 2014. AR at 87 (FF 4); AR at 2353-2425. The CBA includes an article entitled "Health and Safety," which provides that "[t]he City agrees to maintain a firefighting force of at least twenty-five (25) firefighters on duty at all times." AR at 2392. This CBA provision was added to a CBA around 1967 by an interest arbitration panel following litigation between the City and the Union

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> References to the PERC administrative record, identified in Petitioner's Designation of Clerk's Papers as Index #12, Certified Court of Appeals Record (Pages 1-2425), are identified by the abbreviation "AR at \_\_."

over a Union shift-staffing proposal, as well as the constitutionality of the interest arbitration provisions of RCW 41.56. *City of Everett v. Fire Fighters, Local No. 350 of Int'l Ass'n of Fire Fighters,* 87 Wn.2d 572, 573, 555 P.2d 418 (1976). This Court declined in the 1976 case to address whether shift staffing was a mandatory subject, choosing to "await further development of the issue at the arbitration proceeding ..." *Id.* at 576-77. The Health and Welfare provision has remained unchanged in the CBA for the last forty years. AR at 88 (FF 10).

# B. The City Objected that the Union's Proposal to Increase Shift Staffing Is a Permissive Subject of Bargaining.

While bargaining a successor to the 2012-14 CBA, the Union proposed language to increase the minimum shift-staffing levels from 25 to 35. AR at 88 (FF 11); AR at 1005. The City notified the Union that it viewed shift-staffing levels as a permissive subject of bargaining. AR at 88 (FF 12); *see also*, AR at 997. The Union continued to pursue the proposal, and when the parties reached impasse in their negotiations requested certification of the issue to interest arbitration. AR at 88 (FF 12 and 13). On July 2, 2015, PERC's Executive Director included the Union's shift-staffing proposal in a list of issues certified for interest arbitration. AR at 88 (FF 13). The City then filed a complaint with PERC asserting that the Union violated RCW 41.56.150(4) by insisting to impasse on a permissive subject of bargaining. AR at 2345-51.

A PERC Hearing Examiner conducted a four-day hearing on the City's charge. At the hearing, both the City and the Union supported their arguments using extensive evidence that had not been shared during the bargaining process. The City presented evidence establishing that the Union's proposed increase to shift staffing would require the City to hire 30 additional firefighters and four additional firefighter/paramedics, at an estimated additional annual cost of more than \$4.6 million, a massive increase in the fire department's annual budget (before any new wages or benefits awarded in interest arbitration). AR at 1267-68, 1090 (department's 2016 budget is \$29,426,212). The Union presented anecdotal testimony about fatigue among City firefighters and potential safety risks associated with increasing call volumes. E.g., 712-13, 851-53, 870. The Union also offered on testimony from an expert in occupational and environmental medicine, and a second expert on the effects of sleep deprivation and fatigue, to support its argument that the City's shift staffing directly affects firefighter safety. AR at 587-623, 800-842.<sup>2</sup>

Following the hearing, the Hearing Examiner issued Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order. AR at 75-92. He reviewed PERC decisions which, following this Court's direction in *Int'l Ass'n of Fire* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The experts presented generalized studies to support their testimony. *E.g.* AR 1893-1914.

Fighters, Local 1052 v. Pub. Employment Relations Comm'n, 113 Wn.2d 197, 203, 778 P.2d 32 (1989) ("City of Richland"), have long distinguished between shift staffing cases (number of staff on duty) and equipment-staffing cases (number of personnel assigned to a piece of equipment). AR at 82-83. PERC has ruled that shift staffing is a permissive subject of bargaining; PERC has ruled that equipment staffing is a mandatory subject of bargaining where there is a "demonstratedly direct" connection between the equipment staffing level and employee safety. *Id.* The Hearing Examiner found:

The employer has a strong managerial prerogative in being able to determine shift staffing levels. This prerogative has long been acknowledged by the Commission and courts. This is consistent with the fact that employers are tasked with determining their mission, setting service levels, and budgeting to provide those services.

AR at 88 (FF 15). While firefighters have safety interests *related* to shift staffing, the evidence "did not show a 'demonstratedly direct' relationship between cited safety interests and shift staffing levels to shift the balance in the union's favor ..." AR at 89 (FF 19).

The "most direct evidence tying shift staffing to firefighter safety is the expert testimony" submitted by the Union, the Hearing Examiner explained. AR at 86. But this testimony established only the inherent risk in firefighting, not a direct link to shift staffing *at the City. Id.* He concluded that the Union's proposal regarding minimum shift-staffing

levels was not a mandatory subject of bargaining, and that the Union unlawfully pursued a permissive subject to impasse. *Id.* (CL 1, 3).

The Union appealed the Hearing Examiner's decision to PERC, which reversed the Hearing Examiner. AR at 67-74. AR at 22, 88 (FF 15). PERC decided that "the employer did not meet its burden to prove that its interests predominated" over employees' interests in workload and safety and "the public's interest in an effective fire suppression service." AR at 22. PERC further admonished that "[t]he employer has not argued or presented evidence that negotiating the number of firefighters on duty would imping the employer's ability to manage its affairs." AR at 20. But when PERC balanced the City's and Union's respective interests, it put a heavy thumb on the scale by refusing to consider the City's evidence of the costs of the Union's proposal and the impact on the City's overall budget, while giving great weight to Union's expert testimony explaining how the minimum staffing proposal impacted employee safety. AR at 15-16, 20. While neither party presented their respective evidence during the bargaining process, PERC excluded only the City's evidence on this basis.

With respect to the alleged relationship between shift-staffing levels and employee workload and safety, PERC found that "[i]ncreases in the number of calls responded to each shift directly impact firefighters' safety and the safety of the public they serve" and that "[f]atigue directly impacts

safety." AR at 22.<sup>3</sup> PERC concluded that the Union did not refuse to bargain in violation of RCW 41.56.150(4) when it insisted to impasse on a proposal to increase staffing. AR at 23.

The Court of Appeals affirmed PERC's decision in all respects, concluding that "substantial evidence supports finding that the increase in the number of calls responded to during each shift directly impacts the firefighters' safety and the Union established shift staffing has a demonstrably direct relationship to workload and safety." App. at 27-28. The Court of Appeals, like PERC, supported its conclusion with extensive citations to the Union's expert testimony (App. at 24-27), while affirming PERC's ruling excluding the City's detailed cost evidence, even though neither Party's evidence was presented in bargaining. App. at 20.

#### V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

# A. The Decision of the Court of Appeals Is in Direct Conflict with *City of Richland.*

In *City of Richland*, 113 Wn.2d at 203, this Court directed PERC to use a balancing test in adjudicating scope of bargaining disputes:

On one side of the balance is the relationship the subject bears to "wages, hours and working conditions". On the other side is the extent to which the subject lies "at the core of entrepreneurial control" or is a management prerogative.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Notably, none of these considerations is unique to the City or its fire department.

The relative weight of the two interests determines whether the subject at issue more closely relates to conditions of employment, and is therefore a mandatory subject of bargaining, or is a managerial prerogative and therefore a permissive subject of bargaining. *Id*.

Applying the balancing test here, PERC inserted a third factor – the interest of the public – into the two-sided balancing test. It compounded its mistake by purporting to determine the public's interest, a role properly reserved to the officials elected by the citizens of Everett. The Court of Appeals failed to see PERC's error, confusing the goal of the balancing test – requiring bargaining where doing so "achieve[s] balance of public, employer and union interests" promoted by the public sector bargaining laws – with the two parts of balancing test itself. App. at 19.

By misapplying the *City of Richland* balancing test, PERC effectively usurped the "fundamental prerogative[] of management" to set staffing levels and determine the amount of service to be provided to the citizens of the City that is articulated in *City of Richland*. 113 Wn.2d at 205. It also upended forty years of precedent in which PERC has uniformly held that shift-staffing levels are permissive bargaining subjects.

# 1. City of Richland Reserves Decisions about the Scope of Public Services to Elected Officials.

In *City of Richland*, this Court contrasted the type of shift-staffing proposal at issue here, which it described as a "fundamental prerogative of

management," with proposals regarding the number of personnel assigned to a piece of equipment, the topic at issue in *City of Richland*: "Compared with shift staffing, however, equipment staffing is not so importantly reserved to the prerogative of management." *Id.* at 206. Emphasizing the importance of management control over general staffing levels, the Court quoted with approval an explanation by a PERC hearing examiner:

Whether a community will have a large police force, a small one, or none at all, is a very basic managerial decision which ultimately must be determined by the voting public through its elected representatives.

Id. (quoting City of Yakima v. Yakima Police Patrolman's Ass'n, 1981, Pub. Empl. Relations Comm'n, Dec. 1130, 1981 WL 376896, at \*4 (Wash.Pub.Emp.Rel.Com., 1981)). It cited with approval decisions from other states reaching the same conclusion, and quoted one's explanation why requiring bargaining over a "fire department shift staffing proposal" – the topic at issue here – would interfere with:

the flexibility of elected officials to determine the amount of fire services to be delivered within the Town ... Agreement on minimum manning per shift in essence would lock the Town into a certain level of firefighting service for the duration of the collective bargaining agreement. Accordingly, it represents an intrusion into that type of governmental decision which should be reserved for the sole discretion of the elected representatives of all the citizens of the Town, rather than one which must be subjected to the bargaining process with the representatives of the employees hired to deliver the service.

*Id.* at 206 (quoting In re Danvers, Labor Relations Comm'n Cases MUP-2292, MUP-2299 (Mass.1977)). By contrast, this Court explained,

"requiring bargaining over equipment staffing 'leaves in the municipality the ultimate decision concerning what level of fire protection it wishes, or can afford, to provide to the citizens." *Id.* (quoting International Ass'n of Fire Fighters, Local 669 v. City of Scranton, 59 Pa.Cmwlth. 235, 429 A.2d 779 (1981)).

# 2. PERC Improperly Substituted Its Judgment of the Public Interest for that of Everett's Elected Officials.

In place of two-sided balancing test *City of Richland's*, PERC analyzed this case using a three-factor test: "The balancing test must necessarily consider the employer's interest in determining the size of its workforce, the union's interests in workload and safety, and the public's interest in receiving effective services." AR at 20 (emphasis added). PERC has repeatedly applied the *City of Richland* test, and until this case, has done so as directed by tis Court: weighing employees' interest in working conditions against employer's managerial prerogatives. PERC's insertion into the test of "the public's interest in receiving effective services" was cut from whole cloth and misstates the law PERC is supposed to apply.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> E.g., City of Seattle, Dec. 12060-A, 2014 WL 7385455 (Wash.Pub.Emp.Rel.Com., 2014) (comparing the relationship the subject bears to wages, hours and working conditions of employees to the extent to which the subject lies at the core of entrepreneurial control); City of Everett 2013, 2013 WL 1193350 (same); City of Bellevue, Dec. 11435-A, WL 2013 3784086 (Wash.Pub.Emp.Rel.Com., 2013) (same); Spokane International Airport, 2003 WL 22023943 (same).

Even more problematic, having added a new public-interest component to the *City of Richland* balancing test, PERC purports to determine the public interest:

In most cases, the Commission has recognized that the public acts through its elected representatives. City of Yakima (Yakima Police Patrolman's Association), Decision 1130 (PECB, 1981). However, in a case such as this, the public's interest in safety must be weighed. City of Richland, 113 Wn.2d at 204.

AR at 21 (emphasis added). PERC defined "the public's interest in safety" as follows:

The public places its trust and safety in the hands of professional firefighters and paramedics. The public has a strong interest in receiving assistance from a firefighter that is not physically, emotionally, or psychologically fatigued from the effects of responding to 10 to 16 calls per shift. Each call may have a different physical, emotional, or psychological toll on a firefighter. It is in the public's best interest that firefighters are able to respond in the best possible frame of mind so that they make sound decisions and move safely in high-risk situations.

Id. As the lack of citations in PERC's analysis makes clear, PERC defined the public interest in Everett without input from the citizens of the City.

PERC also refused to consider the consequences of the Union's shift-staffing proposal on the City's budget, and therefore on its ability to address public interests not considered by PERC, like a capable police force, better roads, services for the homeless, or uncountable others.

The Court of Appeals found no error in PERC's approach, pointing to passages of *City of Richland* that describe the goal of PERC's adjudication of scope-of-bargaining disputes. App. at 19 ("the legislature

'delegated to PERC the delicate task of accommodating the diverse public, employer and union interests at stake in public employment relations."')

(quoting City of Richland, 113 Wn.2d at 203). But the excerpts cited by the Court of Appeals describe the expected outcome of the balancing test spelled out elsewhere in City of Richland; in that test, the elected officials speak for the public. Decades of PERC's own decisions make this point clear. E.g., Eatonville School District, Dec. 10729, 2010 WL 1420596, at \*1 (Wash.Pub.Emp.Rel.Com., 2010) ("Public employers answer to their constituencies; the Commission cannot supplant the will of citizens and order employers to hire additional employees, fill vacant positions, or maintain specific services.").5

PERC's approach was also at odds with sound public policy. The treatise cited by this Court in creating the *City of Richland* balancing test explained that requiring public employers to bargain over a topic is a consequential decision that necessarily excludes from the decision-making process many other interested public stakeholders:

This bilateral process necessarily means that other interest groups that might be concerned about a given matter will

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See also, e.g., Spokane International Airport, 2003 WL 22023943, at \*10 (minimum manning per shift is the "type of governmental decision that should be reserved for the sole discretion of the elected representatives of all the citizens of the town") (emphasis added); City of Yakima, 1981 WL 376896, at \*3 ("in the public sector, the public officials are vested with the authority to make basic decisions to allocate resources and to determine the levels of service to be provided to the public.").

not, in all likelihood, be able to meaningfully participate in the decision-making process.

Clark, The Scope of the Duty to Bargain in Public Employment, Labor Relations Law in the Public Sector 81 at 95 (1977). Other commentators have emphasized that those whose interests are cut out of public-sector bargaining are a captive audience, who may be forced to live with/pay for the results of the bargain (or in this case, the arbitration award). Murray L. Sackman, Redefining the Scope of Bargaining in Public Employment, Boston College Law Review, Vol. 19, Issue 1, No. 1, 189 (1977). Their interests can only be heard through political processes. *Id*.

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