FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/19/2019 11:25 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 97905-7

Court of Appeals No. 77831-5-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF EVERETT, Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS COMMISSION, Respondent,

and

INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF FIREFIGHTERS, LOCAL 46, Respondent.

RESPONDENT INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF FIREFIGHTERS, LOCAL 46 ANSWER TO PETITIONER CITY OF EVERETT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

W. Mitchell Cogdill, WSBA 1950 Cogdill Nichols Rein Wartelle Andrews 3232 Rockefeller Avenue Everett, WA 98201 (425) 259-6111 Attorney for IAFF Local 46

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

Int'l Ass'n of Fire Fighters, Local Union 1052 v. Pub. Employment

Relations Comm'n, at 203.

iii. Application of standards by PERC.

PERC began its decision in this case by noting manning is generally a permissive subject of bargaining, however, based on the entire record, the union proved that shift staffing had a demonstratedly direct relationship to workload and safety in the instant case. After balancing the interests of the City of Everett and the Firefighters/Paramedics, PERC concluded manning was a mandatory subject in this case. (AR 2).

PERC first analyzed the impact and direction of <u>City of Everett v.</u> <u>Fire Fighters, Local No. 350 of the International Association of Fire</u> <u>Fighters, supra.</u> (AR 4). The size of the crew might affect the safety of the employees and therefore constitute a working condition which would make the issue a mandatory subject of bargaining. (AR 4). PERC noted the Supreme Court declined to make the decision regarding the mandatory nature of manning in that case and instead, referred the issue to arbitration. (AR 4). PERC also noted that after referral to arbitration, the arbitrator's conclusion that manning was mandatory in that case in 1976, did not mean it was binding on PERC in 2017. (AR 5).

PERC then discussed the purpose of the public employee bargaining laws and the fact that pursuant to legislative guide, PERC has developed rules and a body of law which makes it uniquely within PERC's jurisdiction to determine the mandatory nature of bargaining subjects. (AR 6).

PERC also discussed several Commission decisions which explained the difference between equipment staffing cases and manning (shift staffing) cases, and how they can be determined to be mandatory subjects of bargaining. (AR 6-8).

Finally, PERC began analysis of the instant case. (AR 8). Relying on *City of Richland*, *supra*, PERC determined that the Firefighters/Paramedics "must prove that staffing had a demonstratedly direct impact on workload and safety" to establish manning as a mandatory subject of bargaining. (AR 9).

Further, to frame the issue it would decide, PERC stated:

Shift or general staffing levels, however, are not exclusively reserved to the rights of management. If a union presents evidence that the shift staffing relates to workload and safety, as the union in this case did, then we must balance how the minimum shift staffing relates to employees' wages, hours, and working conditions against the employers' interest in entrepreneurial control or managerial prerogatives. If a union is able to show that the shift staffing level had a "demonstratedly direct relationship to employee workload and safety," then requiring an employer to bargain staffing will result in a balance of interests of the public, employer, and union in furtherance of the public employment collective bargaining laws. *City of Richland*, 113 Wn.2d at 204.

(AR 12-13).

PERC followed the steps outlined in *City of Richland*, first analyzing the interests of the Firefighters/Paramedics and the evidence presented through the hearing. That included: 1) Workload (AR 13-15); 2) Health and Safety (AR 15-17): 3) Response Time (AR 17-18); 4) Inspections (AR 18); 5) Training (AR 18-19).⁵

PERC concluded the Firefighters/Paramedics had met their burden

to prove staffing impacted workload and safety. (AR 19).

PERC then examined the City of Everett's interests as presented

through the hearing:

The employer articulated interests in maintaining control over staffing and its budget. The employer *relies heavily on the premise that staffing is, generally a permissive subject of bargaining.* An employer's right to determine the size of its workforce is "at the core of entrepreneurial control." Entrepreneurial control is akin to

⁵ PERC noted in reviewing the evidence presented by the Firefighter/Paramedics that the evidence of witnesses and experts relating to the effects of responding to an increasing number of calls on firefighter health and safety was unrebutted. (AR 15).

an employer's duty to manage its affairs. Spokane Education Association v. Barnes, 83 wn.2d 366, 376 (1974). The employer has not argued or presented evidence that negotiating the number of firefighters on duty would impinge the employer's ability to manage its affairs.⁶

The employer's argument that it could not afford the union's proposal is not persuasive. While the employer communicated to the union that the union's proposal was expensive, the employer did not tell the union that the employer could not afford the proposal. However, the employer introduced evidence at the hearing about the cost of the union's proposal. Employer exhibits 22 and 23 showed the cost to pay a firefighter. Arguments raised only at the hearing and not presented to the other party during the negotiations should not be allowed to form the basis of a party's argument that proposal is or is not a mandatory subject of bargaining. *See City of Spokane*, Decision 4746 (PECB, 1994).

(AR 20, emphasis added).

PERC balanced the interests of both parties based on the

arguments and evidence presented and concluded:

The employer has a strong managerial prerogative in controlling the size of its workforce. Apart from the employer's argument that it cannot afford to hire more firefighters – which the Commission will not consider because that argument was made for the first time at hearing – the employer *presented no other evidence that would support its assertion that staffing, in this case, should be a permissive subject of bargaining.*

The union presented compelling evidence that the firefighters are fatigued, unable to complete training and unable to complete inspections as a result of the employer's decision to maintain a minimum staffing level of 28. The employees' interests in

⁶ This reasoning belies the City's assertion PERC impinged on the City's ability to define scope of service or that PERC improperly substituted its judgment for that of the City. (Petition for Review at p.9-10). The City simply failed to present any evidence on the issues, instead, relying on their belief that manning could never be a mandatory subject of bargaining.

workload and safety outweighs the employer's right to determine the number of firefighters assigned to each 24 hour shift.

(AR 21, emphasis added).

Essentially, the record showed, and PERC concluded, the City made no effort to show bargaining shift size would impinge the City's ability to provide firefighting services to the City of Everett. The City failed to provide any convincing evidence manning should not be a mandatory subject of bargaining under the facts of this case.

PERC concluded:

By finding the union's proposal in this instance to be a mandatory subject of bargaining, we are not finding that a proposal on minimum staffing would be a mandatory subject of bargaining every time the parties negotiate. Each round of bargaining would present facts for analysis. While this does not provide parties with certainty about what topics are mandatory subjects of bargaining, it does effectuate the appropriate balance.

(AR 22).

PERC applied the correct standards to determine manning was a mandatory subject of bargaining in this case.

iv. Court of Appeals decision.

As shown above, PERC's analysis was in complete alignment with the direction this Court established in *City of Richland*. The Court of Appeals decision affirmed PERC's decision, and is also in accord with the *City of Richland*. At the outset, the Court of Appeals rejected the City's blanket argument that *City of Richland* stood for the proposition that manning could never be a mandatory subject of bargaining. <u>City of Everett v.</u> <u>Public Employment Relations Commission</u>, 451 P.3d 347, 350 (October 28, 2019).

The Court of Appeals concluded:

We hold the Washington State Supreme Court decision in International Ass'n of Fire Fighters, Local Union 1052 does not support the City's argument that without regard to workload and safety, as a matter of law shift staffing is never a mandatory subject of collective bargaining. Because the Union proposal to amend Article 27, Health and Safety, to increase the minimum number of firefighters and paramedics on duty for each shift both relates to "conditions of employment and is a managerial prerogative," PERC did not err in balancing the City and Union interests to determine "which of these characteristics predominates." Int'l Ass'n of Fire Fighters, Local Union 1052, 113 Wash.2d at 203, 778 P.2d 32.

Id. at 357.

The Court of Appeals went through a step by step review of how PERC had applied the guidelines established in *City of Richland*. That included: 1) the balancing test, *Id.* at 357; 2) management prerogative, *Id.* at 358; 3) public interest, *Id.* at 358; 4) cost, *Id.* at 358; and 5) increased workload and safety, *Id.* at 359.

The Court of Appeals concluded substantial evidence supported PERC's decision. As a result, the Court of Appeals affirmed PERC. *Id* at

363. The decision of the Court of Appeals is not in conflict with any Supreme Court or Court of Appeals decisions.

2. The Balance of The City's Arguments have no Merit.

The City's other arguments include the claims PERC reached an erroneous conclusion, exceeded its authority, improperly usurped the City's ability to budget, and improperly injected a public interest factor. Those arguments fail to meet the standard for Discretionary Review. If the City wished to have those issues addressed, it should have sought reconsideration in the Court of Appeals. Regardless, the arguments fail to show PERC's decision was wrong, or justify Discretionary Review.

i. Review of Agency decision.

Appeal of a PERC decision is regulated by Chapter 34.05, RCW, the Administrative Procedure Act. <u>Public Employees Relations Com'n v.</u> <u>city of Vancouver</u>, 107 Wn.App. 694, 702, 33 P.3d 74 (2001). The test is whether the findings of the Commission are supported by substantial evidence in the record or whether the action of the agency was arbitrary or capricious. <u>City of Federal Way v. Public Employment Relations</u> <u>Commission</u>, 93 Wn.App. 509, 511-12, 970 P.2d 752 (1998).

An action is arbitrary and capricious within the meaning of the APA when the action is willful and unreasoning, without consideration and disregards the facts and circumstances involved in the situation. Where there is room for two opinions, the action is not arbitrary and capricious even though one may believe the wrong conclusion has been reached. A party alleging an act was arbitrary and capricious carries a heavy burden. <u>Pierce County Sheriff v. Civil Service Commission of</u> Pierce County, 98 Wn.2d 690, 695, 658 P.2d 648 (1983).

The Public Employment Relations Commission's interpretation of the public bargaining statute is entitled to substantial weight. <u>City of</u> <u>Pasco v. Public Employment Relations Commission</u>, 119 Wn.2d 504, 507, 833 P.2d 381 (1992).

ii. PERC did not improperly exclude cost evidence.

PERC rejected the City's cost arguments because the City had never raised the issue of inability to pay during the negotiations. This was not an arbitrary decision by PERC. PERC held:

Arguments raised only at hearing and not presented to the other party should not be allowed to form the basis of a party's argument that a proposal is or is not a mandatory subject of bargaining. *See City of Spokane*, Decision 4746 (PECB, 1994).

(AR 20, Court of Appeals finding the decision was not arbitrary or capricious, <u>City of Everett v. Public Employment Relations Commission</u>, *supra* at 359).

On the other hand, the Firefighters/Paramedics made it well known from the very beginning that their position was based on the argument there was a demonstratedly direct relationship between workload, health and safety under the facts of this case. The Firefighters/Paramedics' arguments were properly considered at the hearing and by PERC.

The attempt by the City to introduce cost evidence only at the hearing highlighted the City's failure to bargain in good faith during negotiations. *See* <u>City of Everett</u>, *supra* at p. 359. In addition, the City failed to show how cost alone impacted PERC's need to determine whether or not the increased workload for the Firefighters/Paramedics had a demonstratedly direct relationship to workload, health and safety. The City failed to establish any nexus between cost and safety.

This was not a case of PERC "effectively putting nothing on the City's side of the scale."⁷ It was a case of the City providing absolutely no evidence to show how manning, as a mandatory bargaining subject, impinged on the City's rights (AR 20). It was not up to PERC to develop the City's arguments and present evidence on the City's behalf. The City simply and utterly failed to show why manning, under the facts of this case, should not have been a mandatory subject of bargaining.

Review of the record shows the evidence put forth by the Firefighter/Paramedics was unrebutted, a fact noted by PERC multiple

⁷ Petition for Review at p.13.

times. (AR 14, 15, 16, 17). The Court of Appeals also noted the City's

failure to rebut the Firefighter/Paramedic evidence:

Unchallenged findings of fact and unrebutted testimony establish a dramatic increase in the volume of calls to the fire department with no increase in the number of firefighters and paramedics to respond to the calls.

City of Everett, supra at 359.

The unrebutted testimony of the fire department chiefs and captains supports PERC finding a demonstrably direct relationship between workload and safety. The testimony established the increased demand to respond to calls resulted in safety risks to the crews on duty for each shift.

Id. at 360.

Expert testimony was offered without objection. City of Everett, at

362

The Court of Appeals also noted:

The uncontroverted testimony supports the unchallenged finding that states:

Firefighters have safety interests that are related to shift staffing. When firefighters respond to service calls, they are exposed to hazardous elements that can cause physical and psychological injuries. Some of these elements include smoke, fumes, dangerous chemicals, blood-borne pathogens, and being struck by falling objects or vehicles. The exposure to these elements can lead to immediate injury or illness, or to more long term impacts as a result of cumulative exposure. Responding to increased numbers of service calls increases exposure to risk elements.

Id. at p.362-63.

The City's conclusory argument that PERC substituted its judgment of the public interest for the City's elected officials also fails.⁸ That is the same argument which this Court rejected when it decided public employee collective bargaining was not unconstitutional in <u>City of Everett v. Fire Fighters, Local No. 350</u>, *supra*, at 574.

PERC did not substitute its judgment for the determination of the City's elected officials. PERC analyzed the evidence and lack thereof set forth by the City, to determine manning, under the facts of this case, was a mandatory subject of bargaining.

iii. <u>PERC did not inject a "new" public interest element</u> into the balancing equation.

The *City of Richland* held that the public interest must be an element in the balancing equation to determine whether or not manning will be a mandatory subject of bargaining. *Id.* at 204. PERC specifically recognized this mandate when it made the decision in this case. (AR 20-21). To claim it is improper to include the public's interest in the balancing test is simply specious. *See City of Everett, supra* at 358.

iv. There is no new issue of public interest.

This Court has already held that under certain circumstances, manning can be a mandatory subject of bargaining. This case does

⁸ Petition for Review at p.10.

nothing to change that ruling. PERC's decision, by its terms, limits this case to the facts as presented *in this case only.* (AR 22). The decision *does not hold manning is always a mandatory subject of bargaining.* There is no continuing public interest element to this case because it does not present a new or different issue of public interest. (RAP 13.4(b)(4)).

IV. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The City fails to establish any arguments which meet the standard for Discretionary Review under RAP 13.4(b). The decision of the Court of Appeals is not in conflict with other decisions; it does not present a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or the United States, and as decided, the case does not involve a new or different issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

PERC correctly decided manning was a mandatory subject of bargaining under the facts of this case. Affirmance was proper.

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